No. 69294-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

DENIS FURY, et al., Appellants,

v.

THE CITY OF NORTH BEND, Respondent

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

Todd W. Wyatt, WSBA #31608 Stuart Carson, WSBA #26427 Attorneys for Appellants CARSON & NOEL, PLLC 20 Sixth Avenue NE Issaquah, WA 98027

Tel: 425.837.4717 / Fax: 425.837.5396

I. INTRODUCTION

In 2007, the City of North Bend (the "City") created a Utility Local Improvement District, commonly known as "ULID No. 6". ULID No. 6's enacting ordinance, passed by the City of North Bend City Council (the "Council"), authorized the City to purchase a vacuum sewer system at an approximate cost of \$11 million. City employees, however—without Council or public approval—purchased a gravity sewer system at a cost of over \$19 million.

Improvements authorized by ULIDs are usually paid for by the property owners within a ULID. Appellants are a group of owners (the "Owners")² within ULID No. 6 challenging hundreds of thousands of dollars in assessments for the gravity sewer system purchased by the City's staff. After the City rejected the Owners' arguments during an administrative appeal, the King County Superior Court—sitting as a court of appeal—found that the administrative hearing process employed by the City to impose the assessments violated the Owners' due process rights, and remanded the case back to the City for a "limited" remand hearing. The Owners are appealing the Superior Court's order on a number of grounds.

First, the change by City staff from a vacuum system to a gravity system violates the ULID statutes and Washington precedents.

¹ A vacuum sewer system relies upon air pressure and vacuum pumps to move flows through pipes. A gravity sewer system relies on gravity. Very basically speaking, gravity systems can be more expensive because the pipes need to be buried deeper.

² Specifically, the Owners/Appellants are: Denis and Gail Fury, Tanner Way, LLC, Thomas Weber, Thomas and Nancy Thornton, and Dahlgren Family LLC #7.

Second, the City relied upon one, and only one, appraiser to determine the "special benefit" received by each one of the hundreds of properties within ULID No. 6. The "special benefit" is the increase in value, if any, each property receives because of a new improvement. The City appraiser's conclusions were arbitrary, capricious, and fundamentally flawed, as she concluded that property values remained *exactly* the same between 2007 (at the height of the real estate market and when ULID No. 6 was enacted) and 2011 (at the low point of the market and when the assessments for ULID No. 6 were imposed). This opinion flew in the face of the other evidence presented, as well as common sense.

Third, the Superior Court's decision to only allow for a "limited" remand hearing is novel, contrary to common law, and not one of the remedies available to the Superior Court under the ULID statutes.

For these reasons and others discussed below, this Court should reverse the Superior Court order and instead order that the assessments are annulled. If this Court decides to limit its decision on the due process issues, this Court should order a full new administrative hearing under RCW 35.44.280.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Superior Court erred by entering the August 28, 2012 Order remanding this case to the City of North Bend, CP 151-52, because the Order: (1) failed to hold that the assessments issued by the City were arbitrary and capricious; (2) failed to hold that the assessments were fundamentally flawed; (3) in the alternative, failed to order a full, new

administrative hearing; and (4) in the alternative, failed to adjust the assessment for Appellant Dahlgren Family LLC #7 ("Dahlgren").

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Washington law requires that cities "describe" the subject improvement when creating a ULID. Here, the ordinance enacting ULID No. 6 described and authorized a vacuum sewer system at a cost of approximately \$11 million. The City's staff, however, decided to materially alter the design and purchased a gravity sewer system at a cost of \$19 million. The City's own Public Works Director conceded that comparing the two systems was like comparing "apples and oranges." No ULID has even been created by the City for the construction of a gravity sewer system. May the City impose assessments for one improvement under a ULID created for a different improvement?
- 2. Under Washington law, an appraiser's opinions in the ULID context are "arbitrary and capricious" if the appraiser failed to consider material facts. Here, despite her own admission that the real estate market crashed between 2007 and 2011, the City's appraiser opined that land values (and corresponding special benefits) did not change between 2007 and 2011. Even the Hearing Examiner admitted that the appraiser could not fully explain this discrepancy. Under these facts, are her opinions arbitrary and capricious and/or founded upon a fundamentally wrong basis?
- 3. The Superior Court ruled that the Owners' due process rights were violated during the administrative hearing. But instead of

ordering a new hearing, the Superior Court ordered a "limited" remand hearing confined to only the evidence leading to the due process violations. There is no support in the common law or ULID statutes for such a result. Should this Court instead follow the ULID statutes and remand for a full new hearing?

4. A ULID assessment may not exceed special benefits. It is undisputed that the gravity sewer system does not fully benefit the Dahlgren property, which is long and narrow, with the sewer terminus at only one corner. Instead, it will cost Dahlgren over \$465,000 to fully benefit the property. Under these circumstances, should Dahlgren's assessment be reduced?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The History of ULID No. 6.

In order to create a ULID, a municipality must obtain the written authorization of over 50% of the citizens within a proposed ULID boundary. Here, that occurred, and in 2007 notice was sent to the citizens of North Bend that a public hearing would be held concerning the creation of a vacuum sewer system ULID. CP 55 (Hearing Exhibit 1 at page 21 of the PDF).³ At the hearing, the Council decided to create

³ Pursuant to a stipulation and order signed by the Superior Court, see CP 46-47, the administrative record—developed before a Hearing Examiner hired by the City—is voluminous and accordingly on a CD. That CD was admitted as an exhibit by the Superior Court and has been transferred to this Court. CP 55, 109-10. That CD is divided into three folders: (1) "Protest Letters" contains the original protest letters filed by property owners in response to the assessment roll. This brief will cite them as "Hearing Protest Letters"; (2) "Exhibits" contains the exhibits introduced at the hearing before the Hearing Examiner. This brief will cite them as "Hearing Exhibits"; and (3) "Appeals to HE Decision" contains the documents filed after the Hearing Examiner's

ULID No. 6 authorizing the vacuum system. The City effectuated its decision via ordinance, CP 80-84 ("Ordinance 1293", attached as Appendix A) and, as required by law—see RCW 35.43.080 & RCW 35.44.020—described in detail the improvement the City was authorizing:

The City Council orders the following described improvements: Design and construction of a *vacuum* sewer system in the herein specified portion of the City [Comp Plan] . . . including but not limited to two (2) vacuum/pump stations, approximately 24,000 linear feet of 10-inch and 12-inch diameter force mains, approximately 40,600 linear feet of 4-inch, 6-inch, 8-inch, and 10-inch diameter collection pipes, one side sewer service and sump pit to each benefiting parcel, division valves, two (2) emergency generators, and appurtenances, all as approximately depicted in Exhibit A

All of the foregoing shall be in accordance with the plans and specifications therefore prepared by the City Engineer, and may be modified by the City Council as long as such modification does not affect the purpose of the improvement.

CP 80-84 (emphasis added). The City estimated the total cost for the project as \$11.6 Million. CP 81.

At some point after Ordinance 1293 was passed, City employees and consultants—but not the Council—decided to change the vacuum sewer system, approved by the Council and the landowners within ULID No. 6, to a gravity sewer system. Hearing Transcript, page 339, lines 2-9. The change was dramatic: it significantly altered the pipes and other items described in Ordinance 1293 and increased the cost of the project

preliminary decision and on appeal to the Council. This brief will cite them as "Council Appeal Documents." Finally, there are five PDFs not placed in folders, including a full copy of Ordinance 1452 and two PDFs of the hearing transcript. The hearing transcript will be cited as "Hearing Transcript," whereas the Superior Court oral argument transcript will be cited as the Record of Proceedings, or "RP".

by over \$7 million. *See, e.g.*, Hearing Transcript, page 307, lines 6-14; page 335, lines 22-24. As the City's Public Works Director Ron Garrow put it to both the press, *see* Hearing Exhibit 75, and during the administrative hearing, *see* Hearing Transcript, page 338, lines 1-4, comparing the vacuum system to the gravity system is like comparing "apples and oranges." The price for constructing the gravity system—approximately \$19 million, CP 86-89 ("Ordinance 1452", attached as Appendix B)—was substantially higher than the original \$11.6 million approved by the City and its citizens for constructing the vacuum system.

There was never any ordinance or resolution from the Council approving the City staff's decision to scrap the previously approved vacuum system. Hearing Transcript, page 51, line 16 through page 52, line 1. Instead, Mr. Garrow claimed that the Council approved the change when it approved the construction contract for the gravity system. Hearing Transcript, page 51, lines 21-22. However, the resolution (not an ordinance) referred to by Mr. Garrow approving the hiring of a contractor—CP 91—contains absolutely no mention of the change of the vacuum system to the gravity system. Indeed, until after the project was constructed, there is nothing in the record that shows any formal notice to the owners within ULID No. 6 that the project they had approved in 2007 had been dramatically altered at a substantial increase in price.

B. Ms. Foreman's Special Benefits Study.

The City divvied the costs of ULID No. 6 among the landowners within ULID No. 6 based upon the "special benefit" each landowner

would allegedly receive because of the new sewer. That is, the installation of a new sewer system theoretically increased the market value of each piece of property within ULID No. 6—the increased value for a property is that property's "special benefit." Under Washington law, this special benefit places a cap on the amount a landowner can be assessed for a ULID—assessments cannot exceed special benefits. The City engaged appraiser Debra Foreman, who was not certified by the Master Appraisal Institute ("MAI"), to conduct a special benefits study to determine the amount to assess each property owner within ULID No. 6.

To ensure that the total special benefits within ULID No. 6 would at least equal the cost of the new sewer system, in 2007 Ms. Foreman assessed the average values, per square foot, that the new sewer would add to vacant land within the ULID. The conclusions she reached in 2007 were as follows: ⁴

Land Value (Zoning Designation) (L Value)

Zoning⁵ Before \$/sf 25% After \$/sf

⁴The term "Before" in the chart refers to her conclusions of what the average value of the properties were without the sewer installed; "After" refers to the average values of properties on the same day if the sewer was instantaneously installed. In other words, "After" is *not* a prediction of what the properties would be worth four years later after the actual sewer system was finally built in 2011. Instead, the "After" value is Ms. Foreman's opinion of what the values of the properties within ULID No. 6 were in 2007 with the only difference between "Before" and "After" being the sewer—no other variables, such as time, are included in her analysis in this chart. Hearing Transcript, page 20, lines 8-16.

The "Zoning" label refers to the different types of zoning that applied to the properties

The "Zoning" label refers to the different types of zoning that applied to the properties Ms. Foreman considered. For example, the first row of the chart, labeled "CR", refers to a cottage residential zoning designation. According to Ms. Foreman, properties with cottage residential zoning had an average value of \$5.00 per square foot without a city sewer. If the sewer was added, the average value of properties with cottage residential zoning would be \$6.25 per square foot.

CR	\$5.00	\$6.25
EP-1	\$4.50	\$5.63
EP-2	\$4.00	\$5.00
IC	\$5.00	\$6.25
LDR	\$5.00	\$6.25
NB .	\$5.00	\$6.25
POSPF	\$1.00	\$1.25

CP 76. As the Court can see, Ms. Foreman determined in 2007, based upon the real estate market at that time, that the addition of a City sewer would add 25% in value to vacant land.

Four years later, after the sewer system was installed, Ms. Foreman was asked by the City to redo her analysis for the purpose of creating the final assessment roll. Her conclusions in 2011, based upon the 2011 market, were:

Land Value (Zoning Designation) (L Value)

Zoning	Before \$/sf	25%	After \$/sf
CR	\$5.00		\$6.25
EP-1	\$4.50		\$5.63
EP-2	\$4.00		\$5.00
IC	\$5.00		\$6.25
LDR	\$5.00		\$6.25
NB	\$5.00		\$6.25
POSPF	\$1.00		\$1.25

CP 78. That is not a typo: Ms. Foreman's conclusions regarding the value of land in 2007 are identical—to the penny, for each and every zoning type—as her conclusions regarding the value of land in 2011.

Ms. Foreman incorporated her analysis in her final report, which was finished in October 2011. Hearing Exhibit No. 2. In this report, Ms.

Foreman divided the properties in the ULID into two basic categories: vacant land and improved properties. *Id.* at 7. She then assumed that vacant land within ULID No. 6 was benefitted by the sewer project much more than improved land—the 25% value increase shown above. *Id.* Ms. Foreman's report, however, contains no objective basis (for example, charts showing market sales of comparable properties and how she analyzed such sales to reach the 25% number) to support the conclusion that the sewer project increased the market value of all vacant land in the ULID by a uniform 25%. *Id.*

C. The Owners Within ULID No. 6 Appeal the Assessments.

After receiving notice of their proposed assessments from the City in 2011, over 30 property owners within ULID No. 6 filed protest letters with the City, primarily contesting Ms. Foreman's appraised values and corresponding special benefits. See Hearing Protest Letters. For example, Appellant Denis Fury purchased ULID parcel nos. 17 through 17.4 in 2010 for a total of \$475,000 with full knowledge of the ULID. Hearing Protest Letter No. 28. Ms. Foreman, in contrast, opined that the actual fair market value of those lots in 2011 was \$1,122,400. Compare Hearing Exhibit 2 (at page 40 of the PDF) with Hearing Protest Letter 28 at Ex. F of the protest letter (page 100 of the PDF). Other examples of appraisals by Ms. Foreman that significantly depart from actual sales, and other data, and always on the high side, abound. See, e.g., Hearing

⁶ Each parcel within ULID No. 6 was given a ULID parcel number, which is how the parcels are listed on the final assessment roll. See CP 93-107.

Transcript, page 131, lines 3-7 (property owner paid \$700,000 for a piece of property; Ms. Foreman appraised the property as worth \$2.9 million); Hearing Exhibit 28 (property owner purchased lot for \$325,000 in 2010; Ms. Foreman appraised it as worth \$827,100 in 2011); Hearing Exhibit 33 (the King County appraiser appraised a property as worth \$364,000; Ms. Foreman appraised it as worth \$1,221,000).

The owners (both Appellants and others) offered multiple objections to Ms. Foreman's conclusions and the assessments. See, e.g., Hearing Protest Letter 28, at pages 72-87 of the PDF (the opinion of an MAI appraiser that Ms. Foreman did not follow relevant standards because she did not explain in her final report how she reached her average values and did not provide a proper basis supported by market data for determining special benefits); Hearing Protest Letter 30, at pages 10-14 (same); Hearing Protest Letter 32, at pages 5-15 of the PDF (stating that the market downturn has made development, as envisioned by Ms. Foreman to come up with her appraised values, almost impossible); Hearing Protest Letter 33, at pages 15-6 of the PDF (same and explaining that "virtually all commercial lending for proposed commercial developments has ceased for the time being. . . . To the extent that construction financing would then typically be considered as a primary feasibility requirement, most projects lacking a firm commitment for such financing may well be considered de facto infeasible."); Hearing Exhibit 15, 20, 21 (the opinion of a MAI appraiser that Ms. Foreman's

comparables were often inappropriate for use and that no comparables were presented in the appraisal to determine correct values).

The first stage of the public hearing concerning the City's proposed assessments for ULID No. 6 was held on November 10, 2011, and was presided over by a City-hired Hearing Examiner. At that hearing, the Hearing Examiner promised that "[p]roperty owners will have a chance to ask questions of any City rebuttal witnesses or evidence." Hearing Transcript, page 7, lines 6-9. The Hearing Examiner also explained that time "for final arguments" would also be allowed. Hearing Transcript, page 7, lines 11-13; *see also* page 71, lines 6-8; page 167, lines 2-3. The first hearing allowed the owners to present their cases.

The next part of the hearing was scheduled for December 20, 2011, and notice of the hearing was delivered to the owners. On December 14, 2011, various attorneys representing numerous property owners, including undersigned counsel, objected to the process described by the hearing notice because, among other issues: (1) Ms. Foreman's complete files were not made available until *after* the first hearing, which was after the chance to present evidence in support of owners' cases; and (2) it was unfair to allow the City to hide the materials it planned on using in the second hearing until the second hearing began, because this did not allow the owners time to review and analyze the City's evidence in advance. *See* Hearing Exhibits 26, 30, 31, 34, 37, 77. The Hearing Examiner refused to mandate that the City produce any records in advance of the second hearing. *See* Hearing Exhibits 35 and 36.

The hearing on December 20 confirmed the Owners' fears of being railroaded. Literally a few minutes before the hearing, the City passed out over 20 individual, multipage memos that Ms. Foreman had created "rebutting" each and every owner's arguments. *See* Hearing Exhibits 38 through 65. The hearing then immediately began, giving the owners no time to review the materials, confer with their experts and attorneys, and prepare appropriate cross examination questions. A number of property owners and their attorneys objected to the City's actions and the unfair process, but the Hearing Examiner did not allow any additional time. Hearing Transcript, page 290, lines 5-20; page 366, lines 6-15; page 387, line 21 through page 388, line 18; page 403, lines 3-11; *see also* CP 35-36, CP 56-57, CP 64-65, CP 68-71; and Hearing Exhibits 20, 21, 34, 35, 36, 37, 77-79, 85, 88.

Not only did the owners fail to receive the City's memoranda a reasonable time before the hearing, but also during the hearing the City introduced into evidence a number of exhibits—Hearing Exhibits 67-71—that were *never* provided to undersigned counsel either before or even during the hearings. Hearing Transcript, page 403 lines 3-11; Hearing Exhibit 87.

With respect to witnesses, the Hearing Examiner again confirmed at the second hearing that the owners would have an opportunity to question any witnesses presented by the City. Hearing Transcript, page 179, lines 6-8. It was revealed at the second hearing, however, that both Ms. Foreman and the City's only other witness—Public Works Director

Ron Garrow—did not have personal knowledge regarding many of the issues they were testifying to. Instead Ms. Foreman and Mr. Garrow were merely repeating information that they learned from other City employees in the City's Planning Department. Hearing Transcript, page 221, lines 4-6; page 223, line 25 through page 224, line 3; page 313, line 2 through page 315, line 2; page 358, line 10 through page 359, line 9.

But these witnesses from the City Planning Department—whose testimony, for example, established the entire basis for what a property's "usable area" was for purposes of Ms. Foreman's assessment—were not made available for questioning at the hearing. The Owners, accordingly, were not afforded a chance to review and meet the evidence presented by the City.

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