69394-1

69294-1

No. 69294-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Superior Court's Decision to Remand the Appellants' Assessment Roll Back to the Hearing Examiner for Further Testimony Was Proper Under RCW 35.44.250.

The Owners contend that the Superior Court's Order remanding the matter back to the hearing examiner is improper under RCW 35.44.250. This code section provides:

[t]he judgment of the court shall confirm, unless the court shall find from the evidence that such assessment is founded upon a fundamentally wrong basis and/or the decision of the council or other legislative body thereon was arbitrary or capricious; in which event the judgment of the court shall correct, change, modify, or annul the assessment insofar as it affects the property of the appellant. *Id.* [emphasis added.]

The Owners contend that the Superior Court found that due process had been violated during the hearing and that the assessments against the landowners are founded upon a "fundamentally wrong basis" under RCW 35.44.250. (Appellants' Brief at 39) Next, they contend that the Court had only four options under RCW 35.44.250: to either "correct, change, modify, or annul the assessment." The Owners contend that the Superior Court did none of these things and chose to craft selective relief to cure assessments founded on a fundamentally wrong basis or as the

result of arbitrary and capricious action. (Appellants' Brief at 40). The Owners contend that the Superior Court had only one choice because of the "due process" violations, which was to annul the assessments and direct a new hearing. The Owners contend that all of the assessments should be thrown out and a new hearing should be conducted for all property owners. The Owners' contentions are wrong. The Superior Court's ruling was proper. As noted above, the Superior Court's order is limited to the Owners' property only. Under RCW 35.44.250, the Court may correct, modify or change the assessments made against the appellants. Here, the Court was not in a position to correct, change or modify the assessments against the Owners since the Court found that the Owners should be given the opportunity to go back before the Hearing Examiner to review the written materials and question City staff. In other words, the Owners were granted the opportunity to supplement the record to cure any due process defects that may have occurred. The order makes it clear that the remand is limited to the Owners only and to the issues raised in the order — which is consistent with RCW 35.44.250. The assessments of other property owners who were not parties in the appeal were not before the Court. Had those owners wished to file an appeal, they could have done so. They chose not to file an appeal.

It is also noteworthy that the Superior Court did not rule that the assessments were founded on a fundamentally wrong basis, or that the decision of the Council was arbitrary and capricious. Nowhere in the ruling does it mention that the assessments were incorrectly made. The Court remanded the matter back to the Hearing Examiner for a limited hearing on (1) review of the written materials presented during the City's rebuttal, and (2) examination of City Planning Department employees who provided information to the City's witnesses. (CABR 151-52). In other words, the Court found that the Owners should be given the opportunity to review written materials presented during the City's rebuttal and conduct additional cross-examination if needed. The Court clearly did not feel that it was in a position to make a decision to invalidate or approve the assessments and, therefore, ruled accordingly. No final judgment was entered. Instead, the Owners were given additional time to complete their case. Following further proceedings before the Hearing Examiner, the Owners will still have the opportunity to return to the Superior Court for a final ruling on the assessments if necessary.

The Owners do not cite any credible authority for their argument that the Superior Court could not remand the case back to the Hearing Examiner. The Owners cite *Bellevue Plaza* for the contention that, when assessments are annulled, they are remanded back for a new hearing.

(Appellants' Brief at 40). In *Bellevue Plaza v. City of Bellevue*, 121 Wn.2d 397, 851 P.2d 662 (1993), the Supreme Court, held that: (1) landowners had satisfied their initial burden of overcoming the presumption that assessment was valid, and (2) the municipality had failed to support the assessments, as based upon benefits conferred on the units of property. In *Bellevue Plaza*, the court found serious flaws in the City's assessments and remanded the matter. *Id.* at 406-11.

The facts in *Bellevue Plaza* are distinguishable from the case at bar because the Court, in this case, did not find any flaws in the City's assessments. The Court simply found that the Owners should be entitled to additional review of the City's evidence and questioning of City employees. *Bellevue Plaza* has no applicability to the current case.

The Owners also reference *Triangle Traders v. City of Bremerton*, 89 Wn. 214, 220-21, 154 P. 193, 196 (1916), where the court held that when an assessment has been declared void and its enforcement refused by the court then the council of any such town shall make a new assessment. *Triangle Traders* is distinguishable from the case at bar because it did not involve a petition for an improvement. *Id.* at 215. Instead, the city took steps to build a trunk sewer without providing notice to the affected landowners that they would be assessed the cost of the improvement. *Id.* at 215-16. In both *Bellevue Plaza* and *Triangle*

Traders, the Supreme Court held that the assessments were annulled and sent back to the respective cities for reassessment. Whereas, in the case at bar, the Court did not make a decision on whether or not the Owners' assessments should be annulled or approved. The Superior Court's ruling concerning the validity of the assessments is, essentially, "pending;" i.e., awaiting the results of the remand hearing and the Owners' determination, following the hearing, on whether further appeal is warranted.

The Owners also cite *Abbenhaus*, and contend that, where the court found widespread violations of due process that denied a fair hearing to all owners, the court must annul the assessments altogether and direct a new hearing. (Appellants' Brief at 40). In interpreting RCW 35.44.250 and the Superior Court's review of an assessment, *Abbenhaus* states explicitly:

Before a superior court alters or nullifies any portion of an assessment under the "fundamentally wrong basis" standard, the assessment must meet this definition, although we emphasize that the statute provides that where such fundamental error exists the court is **limited to nullification or modification only of those parcel assessments before it**. [emphasis added.] *Id.*, at 859.

Both the language of RCW 35.44.250 and *Abbenhaus* make it clear that, if a superior court alters, modifies or nullifies any portion of an assessment, it will only apply to the parcel assessments before it on

appeal. The record is clear that the Superior Court did not alter or nullify the Owners' assessments. The Court's order is also consistent with RCW 35.44.250 in that it does not address the other property owners who are not part of the appeal.

Based on the foregoing, the Superior Court's decision to remand the matter back to the hearing examiner — to give the Owners an additional opportunity to review the written materials and question City staff — is proper.

B. The Change From a Vacuum Sewer System to a Gravity Sewer System Did Not Require Further City Council Action.

A petition was filed by landowners requesting that a sewer system and related improvements be extended to provide service to their properties. In response, the North Bend City Council passed Ordinance 1293 establishing a ULID to provide for the extension of the City's sewer system.

The City's Public Works Director, Mr. Ron Garrow, testified regarding the decision to switch from a vacuum system to gravity system. (Tr. Vol. II, at 239-45). He testified that once the total service area was identified, it was determined that the vacuum system could not accommodate the expected flows. (Tr. Vol. I, at 13-15). According to Mr. Garrow, "the flows from the properties to be served was going to

exceed the capacity of what a vacuum system could handle and therefore the design had to be changed to a gravity system." (Tr. Vol. I, at 13-15).

The Owners make no reference to why the vacuum system was changed. Instead, they contend that cities cannot lawfully impose assessments for a vacuum sewer system and later change the design to a gravity sewer system without seeking Council approval. Their argument makes no sense in light of the express language of the ordinance authorizing the establishment of the ULID and the construction of the sewer improvement.²¹ While a portion of Section 1 of the ordinance does, indeed, describe a vacuum sewer system, the Owners fail to bring to the Court's attention the key language in Section 1 that allowed for the gravity system to be built without further action by the City Council:

All of the foregoing shall be in accordance with the plans and specifications therefore prepared by the City Engineer, and may be modified by the City Council as long as such modification does not affect the purpose of the improvement. [Emphasis added.] (Appellants' Brief, Appendix A).

The purpose of the improvement was to construct a sewer as requested by the citizens of North Bend. That purpose never changed. The fact that the type of sewer system changed from a vacuum system to a gravity system had no impact, whatsoever, upon the purpose for which it

²¹ The ordinance is attached to Appellants' Brief as Appendix A.

was built.

1. The property owners were informed of the details of the improvement and when changes were made.

The Owners further contend that under RCW 35.43.080 and 35.43.130, North Bend is required to describe the improvement. The Owners also reference RCW 35.44.020 and contend that it requires the City to include within its cost estimates a number of other items including engineering costs, property costs etc. The Owners conclude that all details of the improvement must be incorporated into the Ordinance. Their conclusion is incorrect.

The Washington Code does not require an ordinance establishing a ULID to give as much detail as the Owners claim. Even if it did, the improvement that is subject of the ULID – extension of sewer system – did not change. A municipal corporation has broad discretion in creating and fixing ULIDs and its determinations in this regard will be overturned on judicial review only upon a showing of mistake, fraud, or arbitrary action which amounts to an abuse of its statutory discretion. *Esping v. Pesicka* (1978) 19 Wn. App. 646, 577 P.2d 152, on rehearing 21 Wn. App. 96, 583 P.2d 671, review granted, reversed 92 Wn.2d 515, 598 P.2d 1363. RCW 35.43.130 spells out that the city shall create a preliminary estimate of the cost and expense of the proposed improvement. RCW 35.44.020

states that the estimated cost of engineering, property acquisition, etc. must also be detailed. Neither code section requires that the costs be exact and final and the statute specifically spells out that **these costs may be estimates or preliminary**. Nothing in these code sections states that the costs cannot be changed, or the details of the improvement changed, so long as the intended purpose does not change.

The Owners cite *Buckley v. City of Tacoma*, 9 Wash. 253, 37 P. 441, (1894), which has facts plainly distinguishable from the case at bar. In *Buckley*, the City of Tacoma passed a resolution which stated that "... city council hereby declares its intention to improve N street . . . at the expense of the abutting owners. . ." but did not provide any details about the construction, when it would take place or who was directly affected. *Id.* at 258. After passing the resolution the city went ahead and completed the construction work and subsequently passed a second resolution which stated in effect, retroactively, that the improvement of N Street was completed per the plans submitted by the City Engineer and assessments would be made against the property owners. *Id*.

In finding that the city did not give the property owners proper notice the court found that: (1) no resolution was passed ordering any improvement made on N Street; (2) the engineer did not file a diagram in the office of the board; (3) neither the board nor its clerk published a notice containing a copy of the resolution that was passed; and (4) the notice contained no description of the property to be charged. *Id.* at 260. *Buckley* has no application to the case at bar because, in the present case, the property owners filed a petition requesting that the City create the ULID. The owners wanted sewer service for their respective properties and clearly said so. The property owners, under these circumstances, obviously had notice of the proposed sewer improvement and all of the proceedings that led to the formation of the ULID.

The record reflects that the property owners initially filed the petition requesting the City create a utility district for this improvement. Thereafter, the City's engineer had several public meetings with affected property owners during 2007-2008 in which the City discussed the process, and provided preliminary costs of the system and preliminary assessments. (Tr. Vol. I, at 13-15). Subsequently, an additional petition was received to add additional property owners to the ULID. *Id.* A fourth public meeting was held to discuss the addition of these properties. *Id.* Due to the capital expense and concerns about making sure the correct type of system was put in place to serve the needs of the property owners, the City conducted a value engineering study to look at the technical feasibility of using the vacuum system for this particular ULID in relation to the long-term operation and maintenance costs. (Tr. Vol. I, at 15, 17).

After conducting this study, the City determined that the vacuum system would not be able to handle the expected flows from the properties to be served and therefore, the design had to be changed to a gravity system. (Tr. Vol. I at 15). Thereafter, the contract for the gravity system was approved by City Council in October 2009 and the contract for the pump station was awarded in March 2010. (Tr. Vol. I, at 16). Later, the assessment rolls were subsequently mailed out to property owners and another public meeting was held with the owners concerning the project. (Tr. Vol. I, at 16).

Unlike *Buckley*, the Owners in this case were aware of the preliminary cost estimate from the construction work and which properties would be affected by the project. Unlike *Buckley*, the owners had ample notice of the project and its costs. In sum, the owners had proper notice of the improvement and the subsequent change in the details of the improvement.

2. The purpose of the property owners' Petition and City's Ordinance was to build a sewer system.

The City did not overstep its bounds in violation of the ordinance when it changed the sewer system from a vacuum system to a gravity system. The Owners rely on several cases to contend that the City has overstepped its bounds in violation of the ordinance in creating this ULID.

They refer to a number of cases in which an ordinance was passed and the cities subsequently changed the location of the proposed improvement. Cited is *George v. City of Anacortes*, 147 Wash. 242, 265 P. 477 (1928), a case distinguishable from the case at bar.

In *George*, the City of Anacortes passed an ordinance that authorized an improvement of a water system and water main on Twentieth Street. *Id.* at 242-43. After approval by voters, the city subsequently began work on the water main improvement on Seventeenth Street, rather than on Twentieth, as listed in the ordinance. *Id.* at 243-44. Suit was filed to restrain the city from using any funds derived from the sale of the bonds for the construction of a main on Seventeenth Street. *Id.* at 242. The Supreme Court ruled against the city finding that the ordinance specifically detailed that the water main improvement was to occur on Twentieth Street rather than Seventeenth Street. The change was made by the city, on its own, without any voter approval. *Id.* at 244-246.

George is distinguishable from the facts in the present case. Here, the City did not change the location of the improvement, whereas, in George, the change not only impacted the original property owners along Twentieth Street but also the property owners on Seventeenth Street who were not even identified in the original ordinance.

In this case, the City approved a sewer improvement. When it was

subsequently determined that the flows from the properties to be served were going to exceed the capacity of the proposed vacuum system, the design was changed to a gravity system that could handle the flow. The City did not act arbitrarily, it acted logically. If the City had not changed the type of system, the ULID would no longer have been feasible. The purpose for forming the ULID would have been defeated.

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